
 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee 
 
Thursday 30 January 2014 at 2.00 pm 

 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Chris Weldon (Chair), Penny Baker (Deputy Chair), David Barker, 
Simon Clement-Jones, Sheila Constance, Richard Crowther, Denise Fox, 
Rob Frost, Qurban Hussain, Sioned-Mair Richards, Roy Munn, Robert Murphy and 
Philip Wood 
 
Substitute Members 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee exercises an overview 
and scrutiny function in respect of the planning, development and monitoring of 
performance and delivery of services which aim to make Sheffield a safer, stronger 
and more sustainable city for all of its residents.  
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday, or you can ring on telephone no. 2734552.  You 
may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential 
information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and recording is allowed under the direction of the Chair.  
Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for further information 
regarding public questions and petitions and details of the Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at council meetings. 
 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the 
Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked 
to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the 
meeting please report to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to 
the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information about this Scrutiny Committee, please contact 
Matthew Borland, Policy and Improvement Officer, on 0114 2735065 or email 
matthew.borland@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 



 

 

 

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

30 JANUARY 2014 
 

Order of Business 

 
1. Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements 

 
2. Apologies for Absence 

 
3. Exclusion of Public and Press 
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the press 

and public 
 

4. Declarations of Interest 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 

considered at the meeting 
 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 28 

November 2013  
 

6. Public Questions and Petitions 
 To receive any questions or petitions from members of the public 

 
7. The Impact of Welfare Reform on Sheffield's Residents - Update 

January 2014 
 Report of the Director of Policy, Performance and Communications 

 
8. Private Sector Landlords 
 Presentation by Michelle Slater, Service Manager, Private Housing 

Standards 
 

9. Safer and Sustainable Communities Partnership 
 Report of the Interim Director of Housing and Neighbourhoods 

 
10. Work Programme 2013/14 
 Report of the Policy and Improvement Officer 

 
11. Review of the Partner Resource Allocation Meeting (PRAM) 
 Briefing Note for Information 

 
12. Council House Sales Under the Right to Buy Scheme 
 Briefing Note for Information 

 
13. Date of Next Meeting 
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Thursday 27 March 

2014 at 2.00pm in the Town Hall  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
 
New standards arrangements were introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  The new 
regime made changes to the way that members’ interests are registered and 
declared.   
 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you 
become aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the 
meeting, participate further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 

• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at 
any meeting at which you are present at which an item of business 
which affects or relates to the subject matter of that interest is under 
consideration, at or before the consideration of the item of business or 
as soon as the interest becomes apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
within 28 days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

•  Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

  

•  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant 
period* in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This 
includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within 
the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 2

*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you 
tell the Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests.  

  

•  Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, has a beneficial interest) and your council or authority -  

o under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to 

be executed; and  

o which has not been fully discharged. 

  

•  Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, have and which is within the area of your council or 
authority.  

  

•  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse 
or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council 
or authority for a month or longer.  

  

•  Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 

 - the landlord is your council or authority; and  

-   the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner,   has a beneficial interest. 

 

•  Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner 
has in securities of a body where -  
 

 (a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in 
the area of your council or authority; and  

 
 (b) either -  

 the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
 if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you, 
or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.  

  

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting the well-being or financial standing (including interests in 

Page 2



 3

land and easements over land) of you or a member of your family or a 
person or an organisation with whom you have a close association to 
a greater extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax 
payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for 
which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 

 

• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as 
DPIs but are in respect of a member of your family (other than a 
partner) or a person with whom you have a close association. 

 
Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously, and has been published on the Council’s website as a downloadable 
document at -http://councillors.sheffield.gov.uk/councillors/register-of-councillors-
interests 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Lynne Bird, Director of Legal Services on 0114 
2734018 or email lynne.bird@sheffield.gov.uk  
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

 

Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
 

Meeting held 28 November 2013 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Chris Weldon (Chair), Penny Baker (Deputy Chair), 

Simon Clement-Jones, Sheila Constance, Richard Crowther, 
Rob Frost, Qurban Hussain, Roy Munn, Robert Murphy and 
John Campbell (Substitute Member) 
 

 
   

 
1.  
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received and a substitute attended the meeting as 
follows: 

  
 Apology Substitute 
   
 Councillor David Barker Councillor John Campbell 
 Councillor Sioned Mair-Richards No substitute nominated 
 Councillor Philip Wood No substitute nominated 
 
2.  
 

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

2.1 No items were identified where resolutions may be moved to exclude the public 
and press. 

 
3.  
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

3.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
4.  
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 26th September 2013, were 
approved as a correct record. 

 
5.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 

5.1 There were no petitions received or public questions submitted. 
 
6.  
 

SCHEDULE OF REQUIREMENTS FOR BED AND BREAKFAST 
ACCOMMODATION USED TO HOUSE HOMELESS HOUSEHOLDS 
 

6.1 The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Communities, which 
provided Members with information to enable them to provide an input into the 
revision of the Schedule of Requirements (SOR) that was in place, between the 
Council and Bed and Breakfast (B&B) establishments which were used to 
accommodate homeless households.  Attached to the report was the current 
SOR.   

  

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
28.11.2013 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

 The report was introduced by Zoe Young, Service Manager, Housing Options and 
Advice, who particularly referred to the need to revise the present SOR and was 
also pleased to inform the Committee that, at the present time, the Council had no 
homeless families in B&B accommodation.   

  
 Members made various comments, particularly in relation to the high standard of 

B&B accommodation which some of them had visited.  It was felt though that 
more information could be provided to the residents on local transport facilities 
and how to find their way around the areas surrounding the accommodation. 

  
 In response to Members’ questions, Zoe Young stated that officers were working 

with the appropriate agencies to improve out of hours provision, particularly in 
relation to young people and families.  She added that work was also being 
undertaken with Asiana in relation to the provision of dispersed properties and 
with the B&Bs as to the provision of facilities for different cultures and religions. 

  
 RESOLVED: That the Committee: 
  
 (a) thanks Zoe Young for her contribution to the meeting;  
  
 (b) notes the contents of the report and the responses to questions; and 
  
 (c) agrees that the Chair, on behalf of the Committee, writes to the Executive 

Director, Communities, to congratulate staff on achieving a situation where 
the Council had no homeless families presently in Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation. 

 
7.  
 

HOMELESSNESS PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 

7.1 The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Communities, which 
provided an update on Homelessness Key Performance issues.  The report was 
introduced by Zoe Young, Service Manager, Housing Options and Advice, with 
particular reference being made to current performance against key targets, a 
comparison of Homeless Acceptances with Core Cities, key customer information 
and an update on key actions including the Homeless Strategy, the prevention of 
homelessness, the Supported Accommodation Pathway and the impact of 
Welfare Reforms.  Appended to the report was a schedule of Prevention Action 
Plan Key Points. 

  
7.2 Members made various comments and asked a number of questions, to which 

responses were provided as follows: 
  
 • There were presently thought to be 16 rough sleepers in the City which 

comprised a core group of 10, with the rest being a changeable group.  
Officers were meeting with partners such as the South Yorkshire Police, 
Safer Neighbourhoods Teams and Turning Point to undertake action 
planning for each individual rough sleeper. 

  
 • Reports of individuals sleeping in multi-storey blocks were being dealt with 

Page 6



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
28.11.2013 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

and the South Yorkshire Police were reporting any such incidents to the 
Council. 

  
 • The soup kitchens in the City were used to make a connection with rough 

sleepers and it had been suggested that Turning Point could play an 
important part in this. 

  
 • It was difficult for those with complex needs to find accommodation, with 

risk and safeguarding sometimes being an issue.  The Council could 
discharge its legal duties through the private sector, but in these cases it 
was necessary to offer a one year tenancy.  It was felt that some of the 
Social Landlords could be more helpful in providing accommodation for 
homeless people. 

  
7.3 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) thanks Zoe Young for her contribution to the meeting; 
  
 (b) notes the contents of the report and the responses to questions; and 
  
 (c) agrees that the Chair, on behalf of the Committee, writes to the Cabinet 

Member for Homes and Neighbourhoods, to inform him that the Social 
Landlords in the City could do more to provide accommodation for 
homeless people. 

 
8.  
 

MANAGEMENT OF HRA LAND 
 

8.1 The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Communities, and the 
Executive Director, Place, which provided information on the work that had recently 
commenced between the two Portfolios to look at future land responsibility and 
management arrangements within the Council.   

  
8.2 The report was presented Janet Sharpe, Interim Director of Housing, who 

explained that a significant proportion of land in Sheffield still remained in Council 
ownership, and was maintained each year from funding from the Council's own 
resources, mainly the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  
Historically, Council land had been divided up and managed within Council 
individual Portfolios and based on old agreements, and this made having a 
consistent maintenance standard difficult to achieve and communicate to 
customers in the City.  As a consequence, it had been agreed between the 
Communities and Place Portfolios to carry out a review of land management 
arrangements. 

  
8.2 Members made various comments and asked a number of questions, to which 

responses were provided as follows:- 
  
 • The initial task was to work out who owned what pieces of land and ensure 

that the boundaries made sense.  For example, there was a pocket of land 
in the Woodseats area of the City which had no adjacent Council housing.  

Page 7



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
28.11.2013 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

There would be community consultation and the aim would be to ensure the 
best use of land in the City. 

  
 • The Council’s call centres were aware that people may be reporting issues 

relating to these pieces of land, as a result of this project. 
  
 • Tenants had been involved in recommending this project through the Future 

of Council Housing Project and the ‘Greener, Cleaner, Safer Group’ and 
officers would report on progress to the Council Housing Board.  The 
Committee’s comments welcoming uniformity and the importance of 
community involvement would be passed on to the Walkabout 
representatives. 

  
8.3 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) thanks Janet Sharpe for her contribution to the meeting; 
  
 (b) notes the contents of the report and the responses to questions; and 
  
 (c) approves the formation of a project to look at Council owned land across the 

City. 
 
9.  
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2013/14 
 

9.1 The Committee received a report of the Policy and Improvement Officer which 
outlined the Committee’s Work Programme for the Municipal Year 2013/14.  The 
report was presented by Matthew Borland, Policy and Improvement Officer, who 
informed the Committee that a briefing paper on the Partner Resource Allocation 
Meeting would be circulated with the agenda for the January 2014 Committee 
meeting. 

  
9.2 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) approves the Work Programme as detailed in the report; and 
  
 (b) notes that an update on the Management of Housing Revenue Account 

Land would be included in the Review of the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan, for consideration at the March 2014 Committee meeting. 

 
10.  
 

WELFARE REFORM - NOVEMBER UPDATE 
 

10.1 RESOLVED: That the Committee notes the contents of the Welfare Reform, 
November Update. 

 

 
11.  
 

COUNCIL HOUSE SALES UNDER THE RIGHT TO BUY SCHEME 
 

11.1 RESOLVED: That the Committee notes the contents of the Update Report on 
Council Housing Sales under the Right to Buy Scheme. 

Page 8



Meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee 
28.11.2013 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
12.  
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

12.1 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Thursday, 30th January 2014, 
at 2.00 pm in the Town Hall. 

 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

 

 
 

 
Report of: Director of Policy, Performance and Communications 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: The Impact of Welfare Reform on Sheffield’s Residents – 

Update January 2014 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Nicola Rees, Policy and Improvement Officer 
 0114 27 34529 
 nicola.rees@sheffield.gov.uk  
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
After consideration of the report, ‘The Impact of Welfare Reform on Sheffield’s 
Residents’, in July 2013 the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny & Policy 
Development Committee requested that:  

 
i) a one page update on progress with Welfare Reform issues be 

provided to Committee Members bi-monthly; and 
 
ii) a further report on the Impact of Welfare Reform on Sheffield’s 

Residents, to include examples of how other local authorities were 
dealing with these issues and case studies be presented to the 
Committee in 6 months’ time. 

 
Short welfare reform update reports were provided to the Scrutiny Committee in 
September and November 2013, as requested. This report provides the fuller 
update on welfare reform that the Committee asked to receive. 
 
This report covers the following areas: 
 

• A summary of the key welfare reform changes, alongside an 
analysis of the impact of these changes on Sheffield residents; 

• An update on the work that the Council and its partners are 
undertaking to support residents who are affected by welfare 
reform; and 

• An analysis of responses from other local authorities’ to welfare 
reform. 
 

 
 

Report to Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny & Policy 

Development Committee 

30 January 2014  

Agenda Item 7

Page 11



 

 2

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Type of item:   

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other X 

 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
The Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny & Policy Development 
Committee is asked to: 
 

i. note the contents of the report and the progress made on both 
understanding the impact of welfare reform on Sheffield’s 
residents and supporting residents in response to the welfare 
reform agenda;  
 

ii. note the welfare reform case studies which have been compiled 
to provide a deeper understanding of the effects of welfare reform 
on people in the city; 

 
iii. give consideration to the approaches that other local authorities 

have taken in response to welfare reform; 
 

iv. provide views or comments on the Council’s approach on 
responding to the welfare reform agenda; and 

 
v. give consideration to whether the Committee wishes to continue 

to receive further update reports on this issue. 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Background Papers:   
 
Sheffield Hallam University, Centre for Regional Economic and Social 
Research, Hitting the poorest places hardest: The local and regional impact of 
welfare reform 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  

Page 12



 

 3

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Sheffield City Council has expressed concern about the Government’s 

welfare reform agenda, including the introduction of the ‘bedroom tax’, 
which is negatively affecting a significant number of residents in the city.   
 

1.2 At the meeting of Full Council on 5 June 2013, Members of the Council 
agreed to closely monitor the impact of the ‘bedroom tax’ and they asked 
the Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee to examine the impact of the ‘bedroom tax’ on Sheffield 
people, as well as the impact of all other welfare changes. 

 
1.3 In July 2013 the Scrutiny Committee received a report ‘The Impact of 

Welfare Reform on Sheffield’s Residents’. This report examined the 
impact of changes to the welfare system on the people of Sheffield and 
explained the actions the Council had taken to support Sheffield 
residents, in response to the welfare reform agenda. After consideration 
of the report, the Scrutiny Committee requested that:  
 

iii) a one page update on progress with Welfare Reform 
issues be provided to Committee Members bi-monthly; and 
 

iv) a further report on the Impact of Welfare Reform on 
Sheffield’s Residents, to include examples of how other 
local authorities were dealing with these issues and case 
studies be presented to the Committee in 6 months’ time. 

 
1.4 Short welfare reform update reports were provided to the Scrutiny 

Committee in September and November 2013, as requested. This report 
provides the fuller update on welfare reform that the Committee asked to 
receive. 
 

Page 13



 

 4

1.5 The report covers the following areas: 
 

• Section 2 Background 
 

• Section 3  Impact of welfare reform changes on Sheffield  
residents 
Under-Occupancy (‘Bedroom Tax’) 
Council Tax Support 
Household Benefit Cap  
Personal Independence Payments 
Universal Credit 
 

• Section 4 Understanding how people in Sheffield are being 
affected by welfare reform 
Introduction to welfare reform case studies  
Public Health and welfare reforms 
The cumulative impact of welfare reform in Sheffield  
 

• Section 5 Support for Sheffield residents who are affected by 
welfare reform: Update on hardship schemes 
Council Tax Hardship Scheme 
Discretionary Housing Payments 
Local Assistance Scheme 
Council Housing Service Hardship Fund 
 

• Section 6 Support for Sheffield residents who are affected by 
welfare reform: Update on other activity 
Support for Council tenants 
Support for children, young people & families 
Support for people at risk of homelessness 

Support for older people  

Support for people with learning disabilities & mental health 

problems 

Supporting people with the transition to Universal Credit 

Supporting people into employment 

Work with partner organisations - social landlords 

Work with partner organisations - the advice sector 

 

• Section 7 Learning from other local authorities’ approaches to  
welfare reform 
Bristol City Council 
Manchester City Council 
 

• Section 8 Conclusions 
 

• Section 9  Recommendations 
 

• Appendix 1 Summary of key changes to the benefits system 
 

• Appendix 2 Welfare reform case studies  
 

Page 14



 

 5

2.0 Background 
 
2.1 At the present time the UK is seeing the biggest change to the benefits 

system in 60 years. The Government has identified three key problems 
with the current system:  

 

• Work incentives are poor  

• The system is too complex  

• Welfare costs too much  

2.2 Government’s stated view is that reform of the system is required to help 
people to move into and progress in work, while supporting the most 
vulnerable and reducing overall spend on the system. 

 
2.3 Older people have been largely insulated from the welfare reforms, as 

this has been an explicit policy decision of the present Government. 
Therefore people of working age and their families are being 
disproportionately impacted by benefit cuts. 

 
2.4 The changes to benefits are considerable in terms of complexity, impact 

and volume. A summary of the key changes to the benefits system, 
alongside their timescales for implementation is available in Appendix 1, 
for information.  

 
2.5 The Council’s response to the welfare reform agenda continues to be 

overseen by the Welfare Reform Implementation Group, which is chaired 
by Richard Webb, Executive Director - Communities. The current work 
streams of this Group include: 

 

• Strategic Policy and Direction  

• Council-Wide Impacts  

• Universal Credit  

• Personal Independence Payments  

• Local Assistance Scheme Review  

• Business Case for Combining Discretionary Payments 

• Communications 
  
3.0 Impact of welfare reform changes on Sheffield residents 
 
3.1 There are many other changes to the benefits system which are 

contributing to a net decrease in household income for those claiming 
support. The most significant of these are detailed below. 

 
3.2  Under-occupancy (‘Bedroom Tax’) 
 In April 2013 the Government reduced the amount of Housing Benefit 

(HB) for working age Council or Housing Association tenants living in 
homes that are classed as too big for them. Tenants deemed to have 
one bedroom too many have lost 14% or more of their HB. Tenants 
deemed to have two or more bedrooms too many have lost 25% or more 
of their HB.  

 

Page 15



 

 6

3.2.1 The number of people affected by Under-occupancy is continually 
fluctuating, due to tenants’ ongoing changing circumstances. Therefore, 
while the information provided below offers some insight into the impact 
of Under-occupancy on Sheffield residents, it should be noted that this is 
a moving picture. 

 
3.2.2  At the end of December 2013 there were 4120 council tenants affected 

by Under-occupancy.  
 

Of those: 
 

• approximately 85% were assessed as having 1 bedroom too 
many, losing an average of £10.21 pw; and 

 

• approximately 15% were assessed as having 2 or more 
bedrooms too many, losing an average of £19.77 

 
3.2.3 Of the 4120 tenants affected by Under-occupancy, at the end of 

December 2013: 
 

• 241 (6%) had not made any payment towards the Under-
occupancy cut in their benefit. This figure compares to 10% of 
tenants who had paid nothing towards the Under-occupancy cut 
in their benefit at the end of October 2013. 
 

• 1874 (45%) had paid in full the amount of the Under-occupancy 
cut in their benefit. However, of those tenants who had paid in full, 
649 have received a Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) which 
has paid some or all of their Under-occupancy charge. Therefore 
1225 tenants (30% of all tenants affected by the ‘bedroom tax’) 
have paid the shortfall in full without receiving a DHP. This figure 
has increased from 18% at the end of October 2013. 

 

• 2005 (49%) had paid something but not all. At the end of October 
2013 this figure was 55%. 

 

241

6%

2005

49%

1874

45%

Payment for Under-occupancy by 

Council tenants

no payment made

paid something but

not all

paid in full

 
 

Page 16



 

 7

649

35%

1225

65%

Receipt of DHP by Council tenants 

paying the full amount of the 

Under-occupancy cut in their 

benefit

received a

Discretionary Housing

Payment (DHP)

no DHP

 
3.2.4 Since April 2013, 336 tenants have been awarded a rehousing priority to 

move to a smaller property. 
 
3.2.5 Of the tenants awarded a priority 262 tenants have stated this is due to 

the impact of welfare reforms. 87 tenants have had agreement to move, 
despite them having rent arrears that would normally have stopped them 
from being rehoused. So far 153 council housing tenants have 
downsized already since April. 

 
3.2.6 There are approximately a further 2,000 tenants in Sheffield affected by 

Under-occupancy who are living in other social housing.   
 
3.3 Council Tax Support 

From April 2013 the Government replaced Council Tax Benefit with a 
local scheme of Council Tax Support (CTS) run by individual local 
authorities. The fund available to local authorities to provide the new 
scheme included a significant cut, when compared to the money 
available to provide Council Tax Benefit. As pensioners have been 
protected from the changes to Council Tax Benefit, working age 
taxpayers have been forced to share the burden of the reduction in funds 
available.  

 
3.3.1 The Council has about 33,000 working age taxpayers who receive 

Council Tax Support. All of these customers now have to pay at least 
23% of their Council Tax. This number includes about 24,000 who 
previously paid nothing towards their Council Tax and now have to pay 
23%. The 23% contribution equates to £4.29 per week for a Band A 
property (reduced to £3.28 per week for customers receiving a ‘Single 
Person Discount’). 

 

Page 17



 

 8

3.3.2 The Council has set up a £500K hardship fund for those who are 
struggling to pay their Council Tax, known as the Council Tax Hardship 
Scheme (CTHS). More information is available on this scheme in 
Section 5, below. 

 
3.3.3 As at 31 December 2013, 17,518 summonses have been issued to CTS 

customers during the financial year 2013/14.The value of the 
summonsed debt for CTS customers was around £4.6m, with the 
average amount of debt being £262.00. At this stage the full annual 
outstanding debt is summonsed, not the unpaid debt to that date. 
Therefore, the £262.00 average figure represents the customer’s full 
council tax liability for 2013/14. 

 
3.3.4 A Review of the Council Tax Support Scheme has been undertaken 

which has resulted in a recommendation to continue with the current 
scheme in 2014/15. Full Council will make the final decision on this as 
part of the budget in March. 
 

3.4 Household Benefit Cap 
From August 2013 a cap began to be introduced on the total amount of 
benefit a single person or family can receive. This benefit change affects 
the working age population only. The cap is £500 a week for a family, 
and £350 a week for a single person. The Benefit Cap does not apply 
where the claimant, their partner or any children receive some specific 
benefits, including disability benefits.  
 

3.4.1  The Department for Work and Pensions originally identified 327 current 
households in the city who they considered would be subject to the 
Benefit Cap. However after cross-referencing this data with data held by 
the Council’s Benefits Service, this number has now reduced to 170. An 
analysis of these household details has shown that there are around 800 
children living in these households. 

 
3.4.2 The Benefit Cap has initially been applied to a customer’s Housing 

Benefit only. Once this has taken place, if the income of the Household 
is still above the level of the cap, the customer will continue to receive 
the “excess” income until they migrate to Universal Credit, at which point 
the income will reduce to the level of the cap.  This is unlikely to happen 
for some time because of delays in the introduction of UC (see Section 
3.6, below). 

 
3.4.3 The estimated annual reduction in Housing Benefit for all the households 

in the city who are subject to the Benefit Cap will be about £500,000.  As 
some of these households will still be receiving an income in excess of 
the Benefit Cap from their other benefits, when they move on to 
Universal Credit, those households will see a further reduction in their 
income.   

 
3.4.4 It is estimated that when the full level of the Benefit Cap is applied 

through Universal Credit the total additional reduction in the income for 
the affected households will be about £140,000. Therefore the total 
annual reduction in benefits for the households who are subject to the 
Benefit Cap, including the reduction in Housing Benefit and the reduction 

Page 18



 

 9

in other benefits through Universal Credit is anticipated to be about 
£640,000. 

 
3.4.5 The Benefits Service has supplied Council Housing Services and all 

Registered Social Landlords who have tenants impacted by the Benefit 
Cap with details of the affected households. These landlords have been 
contacting customers to discuss the impact of the cut in Housing Benefit 
with them. Officers from the Council Housing Service have been 
involved in a programme of joint visits to affected households with 
colleagues from Jobcentre Plus, to offer tenants advice and support. 

 
3.4.6 Officers in the Revenues and Benefits Client Team have provided 

colleagues in Housing Aid with information relating to all the private 
sector tenants who have been subject to the Benefit Cap so that they 
can develop a programme of support for households in the Private 
Rented Sector. These customers have less security of tenure than 
Social Rented tenants and may not receive the same level of support 
and advice from their landlords as tenants in the Social Rented sector. 
They may therefore be at more risk of losing their home due to rent 
arrears.  

 
3.4.7 To help mitigate this risk of tenants in the Private Rented Sector 

becoming homeless, it has been agreed that applications for 
Discretionary Housing Payments from Private Sector tenants affected by 
the Benefit Cap will be prioritised for processing by the Revenue and 
Benefits Client Team.  

 
3.5 Personal Independence Payments 

A new benefit, Personal Independence Payments (PIP), was introduced 
in June 2013. All new claims from 16-64 year olds, which would 
previously have been for Disability Living Allowance (DLA) will now be 
for PIP.  
 

3.5.1 Replacement of DLA by PIP includes more stringent and more frequent 
medical tests. The budget has been cut nationally by just over £1bn per 
year (a 20% budget cut) and the focus of PIP payments is to be on 
people with the most severe disabilities. It will therefore be harder to 
qualify for PIP than it would have been to qualify for DLA. 
 

3.5.2 Until recently the Council understood that, from October 2013 onwards, 
working-age people in Sheffield who currently receive DLA would start to 
be reassessed for PIP. We now know that in South Yorkshire, migration 
of existing DLA claimants to PIP will not commence until October 2015 at 
the earliest. It is the Government’s intention that by October 2017 all 
existing DLA claimants will have been reassessed for PIP. 

  
3.5.3 It is estimated that 4,700 households in Sheffield will be affected by 

these changes and it is estimated that the financial loss to Sheffield 
resulting from these changes will be £14m per year. 

 

Page 19



 

 10

3.6 Universal Credit 
Universal Credit (UC) is a new benefit which will affect all people of 
working age who are currently receiving any of the following:  
 

• Income Support 

• Income-based JSA 

• income-related ESA 

• Housing benefit  

• Child Tax Credit 

• Housing Benefit 

3.6.1 These benefits will be replaced by one single monthly payment which will 
be paid in arrears, to a single person in each household. 

 
3.6.2 Migration to Universal Credit (UC) was originally due to take place over 

four years between October 2013 and March 2017.  However we now 
understand that the earliest that UC will be introduced in South Yorkshire 
will be April 2015 and, following the Autumn Statement, it seems likely 
that we will not see UC in Sheffield until 2016. 

 
3.6.3 Moving to Universal Credit is designed to simplify the working age 

benefits system, and is not intended to reduce the overall amount of 
benefit paid (although cuts either have been or will be applied to many of 
the benefits that will make up Universal Credit).  However, UC is likely to 
cause difficulties for some residents, who will need to make 
arrangements to pay their own housing costs, where previously these 
payments had been paid directly to their landlord.  There will also be a 
move towards online claiming of the benefit which will have significant 
implications for many households who do not currently have access to 
the internet. 

 
3.6.4 The Council has particular concerns about the ability of vulnerable 

people, for example those with learning disabilities and mental health 
issues, to transition successfully to Universal Credit. More information is 
available in Section 6, below, regarding the Council’s approach to 
supporting people with the transition to Universal Credit. 

 
 
4.0 Understanding how people in Sheffield are being affected by 

welfare reform 
 
4.1 Welfare reform case studies 

Work has been on-going between the Council’s Policy and Improvement 
Team and partners in the voluntary sector to produce a set of case 
studies of different households in the city, to provide a deeper 
understanding of the effects of welfare reform on people in the city. 

 
4.1.1 The first set of case studies was produced in September 2013. These 

are included as Appendix 2 to this report. These provide some insight 
into the financial hardship being faced by some households as a result of 
the recent changes to benefits, and the impact that this is having on 
different aspects of their lives. They also provide some insight into the 
problems that individuals and families may be facing and may face in the 

Page 20



 

 11

future as a result of welfare reform which may bring them into contact 
with Council services including: 

 

• Council Housing Service 

• Revenues and Benefits  

• Local Assistance Scheme 

• Adult Social Care  

• Children’s Social Care Services and Multi-Agency Support Teams 

• Housing Solutions 

• Supporting People Programme 

• Drug and Alcohol/Domestic Abuse Coordination Team (DACT) 
 
4.1.2 It is the Council’s intention to produce a further set of case studies in 

spring 2014. These will provide some insight into whether or not the level 
of impact and range of issues facing households, resulting from welfare 
reform is changing over time. 

 
4.2 Public Health and welfare reforms 

Public Health have identified that there are potential detrimental impacts 
on physical and mental health resulting from the welfare reform agenda, 
along with detrimental impacts on the health and resilience of 
communities. The Council’s Public Health Intelligence Team are 
undertaking a detailed piece of research to understand in more detail the 
implications of welfare reform on public health in Sheffield. In the 
meantime, there is some powerful anecdotal information coming from 
public health officers working in local neighbourhoods in the city. The 
following information was gained through the work of the Healthy 
Communities Programme (HCP). This information does not give a full 
account of how welfare reform is impacting on communities but provides 
a snapshot of what public health workers have witnessed within some of 
the communities where resources are targeted.   

 
4.2.1 High Green: The Advocacy Worker, funded through the Healthy 

Communities Programme has reported being “snowed under” with 
people in need due to impact of the reforms. The food bank in the area is 
seeing a huge increase in demand following the implementation of the 
reforms. A job club, jobs fair and credit union has been established in the 
local charity shop in the area, to support individuals in their search for 
work.  

 
4.2.2 Norfolk Park, Arbouthorne, Manor: Food banks are being rolled out 

through these areas as a response to the reforms. There has also been 
an increase in demand for training which aims to increase confidence 
and self-esteem and HCP funds have been used to increase the number 
of courses on offer. Cook and Eat and Cooking on a Budget courses 
have also been provided as a response to welfare reform. 

 
4.2.3 Southey and surrounding areas: The two Advocacy Workers in the 

area who are funded through HCP are now spending all their time 
dealing with debt advice and associated problems.  They are reporting a 
“dramatic deterioration” in the mental health of clients and an increase in 
suicides. There is evidence of individuals having to make the choice 
between eating or heating. There are reported cases of people looking in 

Page 21



 

 12

skips for wood to burn and if unable to find anything, resorting to burning 
their own furniture. The advocacy workers are liaising with utility 
providers and other organisations to which clients owe money and are 
signposting on to the relevant agencies. They are working with the 
people who are “falling through the cracks” in terms of receiving 
insufficient income to cover their basic needs. Wherever possible in 
these cases the staff providing support look at what went wrong and 
what can be done to prevent reoccurrence.   

 
4.2.4 Health Trainers: Health trainers are reporting an increase in clients 

seeking support for mental health problems – e.g. depression and 
anxiety, connected with financial worries.  There are also reports that the 
anticipation of future changes to income is causing increased stress and 
anxiety for many people – i.e. for those people whose income has not 
yet been affected, stress and anxiety levels are still increasing as they 
are living with the worry of how they will cope in the future if their income 
decreases. 

 
4.3 Understanding the cumulative impacts of welfare reform in 

Sheffield 
 Research produced by Sheffield Hallam University’s Centre for Regional 

Economic and Social Research illustrates that when the present welfare 
reforms have come into full effect, there will be £173m less per year in 
the local Sheffield economy.  

 
4.3.1 This equates to a financial loss of £471 per year for every working age 

adult in the city. However it is important to note that clearly the burden of 
welfare reform changes will not be shared by every working age adult in 
the city – as many will not be affected at all – and therefore many of 
those people who are affected are likely to suffer a financial loss of more 
than £471 per year. 

 
4.3.2 Work is ongoing within the Council to progress its understanding of the 

cumulative impact of welfare reform impacts on households within 
Sheffield. Further updates will be provided to the Scrutiny Committee as 
information becomes available. 

 
 
5.0  Support for Sheffield residents who are affected by welfare reform: 

Update on hardship schemes 
 
5.1 The Council administers or runs three principal schemes to help people 

who are suffering from financial hardship. These are the Council Tax 
Hardship Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments and the Local 
Assistance Scheme. 

 
5.2  Additionally, a further hardship fund has recently been set up by the 

Council Housing Service. The Children, Young People and Families 
Portfolio also administers some payments to support children and 
families in need. Information on these funds is available in Section 6.3, 
below. 

 
 

Page 22



 

 13

5.3 Council Tax Hardship Scheme  
The Council has set up a £500K hardship fund for those who are 
struggling to pay their Council Tax, known as the Council Tax Hardship 
Scheme (CTHS). 

 
5.3.1   At the end of December 2013, 5570 CTHS awards had been made and 

total CTHS expenditure amounted to £274,883. This fund is being 
closely monitored and is in line with expectations.   

 
5.3.2 There is the intention to continue to provide a Council Tax Hardship 

Scheme in 2014/15, although the level of funding for the scheme in 
2014/15 is not yet known.  

 
5.4 Discretionary Housing Payments  

The Council is responsible for administering Discretionary Housing 
Payments (DHP), which are used to support customers with housing 
costs.  Many of these customers are those affected by a reduction in 
Housing Benefit as a result of the Under-occupancy rules.  

 
5.4.1 At the end of December 2013, 4828 DHP awards had been made and 

total DHP expenditure amounted to £789,500. Expenditure is being 
closely monitored and is in line with expectations, and should be seen in 
the context that the overwhelming number of DHP awards cover future 
periods, with current awards being made as far forward as March 2014. 

 
5.4.2 The Council’s original budget allocation for DHP for the year 2013/14 

was £996,995. The Government has recently made additional DHP 
funding available to be used in the remainder of 2013/14 and Local 
Authorities have been invited to make bids for this the Council has been 
successful in bidding for an extra £100,000. This additional funding will 
be used to maintain awards of DHP to those customers who are still in 
hardship and who, due to budget pressures, would otherwise have had a 
cut in the level of support. 

 
5.4.3  The Government requires the Council to record the “impact” and “reason 

for” awarding a DHP and has set out monitoring criteria for both 
categories. In terms of the impact that has driven the need for a DHP, in 
over 89% of cases this is due to the size criteria reduction in Housing 
Benefit (Bedroom Tax). 

 
5.5  Local Assistance Scheme  

Some discretionary elements of the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP) Social Fund were abolished from April 2013, with the DWP 
providing funding for the Council to establish local assistance for 
financially disadvantaged people. Sheffield’s fund is known as the Local 
Assistance Scheme. 

 
5.5.1 The Council’s budget allocation for the scheme for 2013/14 was 

£2,071,098. 
 
5.5.2 The discretionary elements of the Social Fund which were abolished 

were used by the DWP to provide two types of award - Community Care 
Grants and Crisis Loans. 

Page 23



 

 14

 
5.5.3 The first phase of the Council’s scheme, which started in April 2013, 

resembles the DWP scheme which it replaces. This is an interim solution 
which reflects the commitment across the Council and from stakeholders 
to continue to offer individual financial assistance to customers 
experiencing poverty.  

 
5.5.4 Applicants to the Local Assistance Scheme have to meet certain 

eligibility criteria, including being resident in Sheffield and in receipt of 
particular benefits. 

 
5.5.5 Community Care Grants exist to help vulnerable people to remain or set 

up home in the community, to ease exceptional pressure on families, or 
to prevent someone going in to care. These grants are usually in the 
form of an award to purchase white goods and furniture. 

 
5.5.6 Crisis loans are awarded to customers who are experiencing extreme 

financial difficulty due to an emergency. The scheme offers loans to 
meet short term expenditure needs. These short term loans are to be 
repaid through the benefits, and are administered by the Sheffield Credit 
Union. 

 
5.5.7 Between 1 April 2013 and 31 December 2013, the Council received: 
 

• 4618 applications for assistance, and 11,065 phone calls to its 
dedicated team; 

• 2213 applications for loans, of which 1169 (53%) were 
awarded (the average loan award was £64.83); and 

• 2405 applications for grants, of which 1305 (54%) were awarded 
(the average grant award was £649.64). 

 
5.5.8 At the end of December the total spend on loans was £75,786.07 and 

the total spend on grants was £847,786.58.  
 
5.5.9 Overall the scheme is continuing to underspend against the available 

budget; however there has been a sustained but small increase in the 
overall numbers of applications and the award amounts being made. 

 
5.5.10 It should be noted that the Government has recently announced that it 

will not be providing local authorities with a grant to provide a Local 
Assistance Scheme, after the financial year 2014/15. 

 
5.6 Council Housing Service Hardship Fund  

A £50k Hardship Fund has been set up from the Housing Revenue 
Account to support tenants affected by welfare reforms and suffering 
hardship.  

 
5.6.1 54 payments have been made so far, totaling £14,618.11. 
 
 

Page 24



 

 15

6.0 Support for Sheffield residents who are affected by welfare reform: 
Update on other activity 

 
6.1  A great deal of activity is taking place across the Council and by city 

partners to try to support Sheffield residents who are experiencing 
difficulties as a result of the changes to welfare benefits. This work is 
summarised below. 

 
6.2 Support for Council tenants 
 Many Council tenants have been substantially affected by the welfare 

reform agenda. There has therefore been additional support given to 
tenants who require assistance. 

 
6.2.1 The Council Housing Service (CHS) has attempted to carry out visits to 

all tenants affected by Under-occupancy or the Benefit Cap, and has 
successfully gained contact with 2,833 tenants. CHS continue to visit all 
newly affected tenants - after tenants have had a change in their 
circumstances and are then subject to a cut in their housing benefit - 
ensuring that advice and support is provided where appropriate.   

 
6.2.2 Since July 2013 surgeries have also been held in Council Housing 

Service area offices/local First Points so tenants can attend for a 
prearranged appointment or just drop in to obtain advice and support on 
benefits changes. To date, 385 tenants have accessed this service, and 
this is ensuring that the Council works more effectively and sees more 
tenants. Housing Officers are still, however, carrying out home visits to 
vulnerable tenants and those who are unable to attend surgeries. 

 
6.2.3 CHS is finding that tenants’ ability to pay their rent is being affected not 

only by the changes to benefits but also by the current economic climate. 
In particular, the following issues are contributing to an increasing 
number of tenants falling into arrears: 

 

• tenants being in work but on zero hours contracts; and 

• sanctions being applied to tenants on benefits.  
 
6.2.4 CHS staff are being required to provide a greater level of advice to 

tenants who are currently claiming housing benefits and greater support 
on all aspects of financial capability and education, i.e. managing 
money, prioritising essential outgoings, advice on low cost loans, 
avoiding payday lenders & illegal money lenders and debt advice. By the 
end of January 2014 CHS will have appointed additional staff to manage 
the extra workload and increase in arrears cases caused by welfare 
reform.  

 
6.2.5 CHS is continuing to actively identify tenants who may be eligible to 

receive a Discretionary Housing Payment, and support them through the 
application process. 

 
6.2.6 CHS are also identifying a small number of homes where it is 

appropriate to re-designate the size of the property, due to adaptations 
that have been carried out. 7 adapted properties have been re-

Page 25



 

 16

designated and CHS have also re-designated 18 temporary 
accommodation properties from 3-bed to a 2-bed properties. 
 

6.2.7 CHS are currently participating in a trial which has supported 18 tenants 
(3 of which were on the brink of eviction action) to open Sheffield Credit 
Union budgeting accounts. Additional funding has been identified to 
support appropriate tenants to open budgeting accounts going forward, 
and there are a further 5 applications pending. 
 

6.2.8 These budgeting accounts, known as ‘jam-jar accounts’, help customers 
to budget effectively and pay their creditors on time.  Following the 
successful pilot, funding has been identified to set up more of these 
accounts, and extra resources are now in place to promote them to 
appropriate tenants. Partnership work is also ongoing between Council 
Housing Services in Sheffield and Rotherham, looking at a shared 
system with the local credit unions. 
 

6.2.9 Future CHS work will include ongoing work with the Access to Housing 
Team to progress cases where tenants have requested a move to 
downsize, to ensure they are able to move and not build up rent arrears. 
£20,000 of funding has been identified to pay for a “Man & Van” service 
to help tenants physically move if they are downsizing and suffering 
hardship. This money will be used together with Supported Housing to 
ensure efficiencies and value for money, as they already operate a 
homemaker service. 3 tenants have been helped to move so far. 

 
6.2.10 A small pilot has been established in 2 areas of the city - Fox Hill and 

Gleadless Valley - where Council Housing staff are working with tenants 
who are in arrears with both their rent and their council tax, to offer more 
support and advice to vulnerable tenants. Initial results are promising, 
with affordable repayment agreements made with 41% of tenants and 
feedback from both tenants and support workers that they have found 
the joined up collection by Sheffield City Council and the extra support 
and advice very helpful.  

 
6.3 Support for children, young people & families 

It is anticipated that the welfare reform agenda will have an impact on 
many families who come into contact with services for children, young 
people and families. Social work teams have been kept up to speed with 
changes to the benefits system, have been given information about 
budget planning and have been given guidance on the Local Assistance 
Scheme so that they can refer families in need onto appropriate help and 
support. 
 

6.3.1 Contacts to Multi Agency Support Teams (MAST) have evened out in 
recent months. Whilst the Council saw a high number of Requests for a 
Service in Quarter 1 (April, May and June 2013) compared to the 
previous year, a lower number of Requests for a Service in Quarter 2 
(July, August and September 2013) means that overall the number of 
Requests for a Service for the first 6 months of 2013/14 were 
comparable to the previous year. 

 

Page 26



 

 17

6.3.2 The number of Requests for a Service where financial and employment 
concerns were identified as the primary issue affecting the family has 
doubled between Quarter 1 and Quarter 2 in the current year (2013/14). 
However, it is important to note that numbers are low and therefore it is 
unclear whether or not this will become an ongoing concern. This will 
continue to be monitored. 

 
6.3.3 One potentially significant indicator relating to the impact of welfare 

reform on families is Children with Additional Needs (CAD) payments. 
CAD payments are made in certain emergency circumstances to families 
who MAST are working with. The payments are made to help families 
with the cost of food and fuel. Between July and September 2012, MAST 
spent £3655 on CAD payments. Between July and September 2013 this 
figure was £6812; an increase of 86%. Direct links to welfare reforms will 
be examined. 

 
6.3.4 Another potentially significant indicator relating to the impact of welfare 

reform on families is Section 17 payments for Children in Need. 
Unfortunately, it is not possible to accurately report on Section 17 
payments at present, however it is anticipated that this information will 
be available in future reports. 

 
6.4 Support for people at risk of homelessness 

It is anticipated that that there will be an increase in homelessness in 
Sheffield due to welfare reform.  

 
6.4.1 In response the Council has finalised a Prevention Action Plan which 

sets out the key activities that will be focussed on in 2013/14 in advance 
of the new Homeless Strategy. The mitigating actions set out in the 
Prevention Action Plan include focussing on increased preventions, 
access to alternative housing, improved casework and collaborative 
working.   

 
6.4.2 The Housing Solutions Service offers advice and assistance to 

households who are struggling to make their mortgage payments. If the 
property is no longer affordable to the homeowner, an advisor will help 
the customer to explore the options available. Solutions can include the 
Mortgage Rescue Scheme which transfers ownership of the property to 
a Housing Association, while allowing the resident(s) to continue living at 
the property, or a Breathing Space loan to provide the household with 
time to resolve their financial difficulties. The service can also help those 
who are at risk of losing their homes, whether they rent or have a 
mortgage, to access interest free borrowing through the Sheffield Credit 
Union. It is important to note that the Mortgage Rescue Scheme, which 
is a Government scheme, is due to cease at the end of March 2014. 

 
6.4.3 To date, no increase in homelessness has been experienced in 2013/14. 

However, as some benefit changes are still relatively recent - with the 
Benefit Cap only being introduced in August for example - and major 
changes are still pending, the risk assessment is that there may be 
impacts next year.    
 

Page 27



 

 18

6.5 Support for older people  
Most of the benefits changes which have come into effect to date will not 
affect people of pensionable age, and are therefore unlikely to have a 
significant impact on older people at the present time. However, future 
changes to disability benefits will affect people approaching pensionable 
age so this may have an impact in the future. The Council is continuing 
to reflect on the possible impacts of welfare reform on this group of 
people and is assessing how to support these customers. 
 

6.6 Support for people with learning disabilities and mental health 
problems 
Residents with learning disabilities and mental health issues are likely to 
be affected both by wider welfare reform changes and the anticipated 
future reduction of specific disability benefits.  
 

6.6.1 Personal Independence Payments (PIPs) are now available to new 
applicants of working age, however the Council’s Adult Social Care 
Service is yet to assess anyone with PIP. Sheffield’s advice services are 
currently unaware of any Sheffield residents of working age claiming this 
benefit. Information received from the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) leads the Council to believe that the DWP is still 
experiencing problems with the assessment centres and partners 
responsible for completing the benefit assessments.  This could have a 
negative impact on Sheffield, as new applicants for PIP are left without 
benefit.  

 
6.6.2 The Council has started working with the DWP in order to identify a 

supported referral process for working age benefit claimants, should 
there be any new applicants to Adult Social Care, eligible for PIP who 
are experiencing difficulty applying for the benefit. 
 

6.6.3   The Council will continue to monitor the impact of welfare reform on this 
particular group and will continue work to support these residents.  

 

6.7 Supporting people with the transition to Universal Credit 
Work is currently underway on the Council’s response to the forthcoming 
implementation of Universal Credit (UC), recognising that:   
 

• residents will need to make arrangements to pay their own 
housing costs, where previously these payments had been paid 
directly to their landlord; 

• there will be a move towards online claiming of the benefit which 
will have significant implications for many households who do not 
currently have access to the internet; and 

• therefore, many people in Sheffield will experience difficulty in 
transitioning to UC and will require additional support. 

 

6.7.1 The Council has established a Project Group to enable the Council and 
its customers to prepare for the introduction of UC. The Project Group 
brings together representatives from services across the Council, with 
involvement from representatives in the Department for Work and 
Pensions and the advice sector.  

 

Page 28



 

 19

6.7.2 The initial focus of the UC Project Group will be a joint geographical 
mapping exercise involving the Council, DWP and the VCF sector, to 
assess what support services and internet access are available 
throughout the city, and what gaps there are in provision. The longer-
term aims of the group are to ensure that by the time UC is introduced in 
South Yorkshire, the Council and its partners have a coherent approach 
to supporting people in Sheffield, particularly the most vulnerable 
residents, to transition to UC. 

 
6.8 Supporting people into employment 
 The Council provides employment support to key groups claiming out of 

work benefits through an employability programme designed to address 
the barriers they face. Integral to the programme is debt and health 
management support for all participants. Examples of programmes 
targeting specific key groups are provided below. 

 
6.8.1 Ambition Working – for 18/24 year olds claiming Jobseeker’s 

Allowance  
Ambition Working provides 3 days in work training with an employer and 
two days off the job training. Feedback from employers is included in the 
off the job training and where required training and support is given to 
address issues raised. The programme equips young people to secure 
employment and survive in the work place. Individuals are on the 
programme for a maximum of 8 weeks. The programme has only been 
up and running for 7 weeks and to date 9 young people have secured 
employment with another 11 job outcomes pending. All referrals to the 
programme are from Job Centre Plus. 
 

6.8.2 Supported Internship Programme – for 16-24 year olds with 
learning disabilities 
This Supported Internship Programme is delivered through work 
placements with the support of a key worker. Work placements are for 
up to 3 days per week and are tailored to the individual’s needs. The 
remainder of time is spent in learning. The programme is based on the 
Ambition Working model, with additional support for the individual and 
the employer. Placements begin in February 2014. 
 

6.8.3 Troubled Families Programme – Building Successful Families  
This programme has been operational since 2012. Secondees from Job 
Centre Plus are working across Council services to embed employment 
and employability within teams, and ensure employment is an option for 
all families involved in the Building Successful Families programme. This 
programme targets families where there are no adults working in the 
family, where children do not attend school and where members of the 
family are involved in crime or anti-social behaviour. The Job Centre 
Plus secondees will be working within the Council until 2015. To date 50 
individuals have been supported into employment.    
 

6.8.4 Work clubs 
The council operates a network of work clubs across the city. The work 
clubs provide support to ex-offenders, older workers, BME groups and 
those with poor health.  They provide support and guidance to both 
individuals on their journey towards the labour market and those who are 

Page 29



 

 20

‘job ready’ but are finding difficulty securing employment. This financial 
year 218 individuals have successfully moved into work.  
 

6.8.5 The following programmes are currently under development and will be 
delivered during 2014/15 .  
 

6.8.6 Employment Support Pathway - Sheffield City Council is currently 
working with the Department for Work and Pensions, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion 
to develop a Health Pathway that will support people with health 
problems into work. The pathway will include confidence building, 
careers advice, debt support, managing health conditions in the work 
place, volunteering, work placements, vocational training etc. Individuals 
will be better prepared when they transfer to Jobseeker’s Allowance from 
Employment and Support Allowance (ESA), a number of which will be 
successfully supported into work directly from ESA.  
 

6.8.7 Tenants Pathway - The Council’s Employment and Skills Service are 
currently working in partnership with the Council’s Housing Service to 
develop a pathway to work for tenants claiming out of work benefits. The 
pathway will link individuals to existing programmes e.g. the City 
Stewardship Programme, the City Deal, the Sheffield 100 programme, 
SCC Employability Programmes and mainstream provision. 

 
6.9 Work with partner organisations 
 
6.9.1 Social landlords 

The Council’s Social Landlords team facilitates a regular Strategic 
Housing Forum at which partner housing association landlords and 
Council officers can discuss at strategic level the impact of welfare 
reform and actions being taken to mitigate the impacts.  
 

6.9.2 Almost all Social Landlords have visited or directly contacted every 
tenant affected by welfare reform to offer information and support. All 
providers are signposting affected tenants to debt and advice agencies, 
employment support agencies and the Credit Union and most are 
offering in-house benefits and debt advice themselves. Some providers 
have employed more staff or increased capacity in their front line teams. 

 
6.9.3 Most Social Landlords have relaxed the restrictions on allowing their 

tenants to move with arrears, where the need to move is financial. 
Practical measures such as help with packing and moving, decorating 
vouchers and subsidised removal costs have been introduced by some 
providers. Several providers are supporting tenants to set up bank 
accounts and one has in place a subsidised loan arrangement with a 
Credit Union provider. 

 
6.9.4 The advice sector 
 One of the sectors most obviously affected by welfare reform is the 

advice sector. Advice services report that the severity of the reforms has 
come as a shock for people and they are finding themselves limited in 
the help they can offer. The groups who have been most significantly 
impacted by the welfare reform changes are those whose first language 

Page 30



 

 21

isn’t English, people with physical and learning disabilities, and those 
with health problems, including mental health problems. 
 

6.9.5 Sheffield Citizens Advice (SCA)1 dealt with 13,488 advice issues in 
respect of 5422 unique clients in the 13 weeks between 1 October and 
31 December 2013. Of these, 6263 were welfare benefits issues (46%), 
with 1633 of these on Employment and Support Allowance alone. A 
further 3825 were debt issues. Overall 74% of issues handled by SCA 
were on welfare benefits and debt, compared to 67% of issues on 
welfare benefits and debt handled by the predecessor organisations in 
2010-11, before the main welfare reforms were introduced. 
 

6.9.6 The advice sector report anecdotally that prior to October 2012 (when 
Job Seekers Allowance sanction periods were substantially increased) 
advice agencies only infrequently faced clients who were completely 
destitute and unable to access crisis funds from the state, whereas now 
referrals to food banks are everyday work. Advisers have also reported 
that they are dealing with clients who are feeling more anxious, 
despairing and disparaged by the wide-spread stigmatisation of benefit 
claimants.  

  
 

7.0 Learning from other local authorities’ approaches to welfare reform 
 
7.1 The Scrutiny Committee has specifically requested that this report 

include examples of how other local authorities are responding to 
welfare reform. When researching best practice in welfare reform 
amongst local authorities it was apparent that many of the positive 
actions that other authorities had taken in response to welfare reform 
had already been adopted in Sheffield.  

 
For example: 
 

• Some other local authorities are taking steps to proactively help 
their residents with budgeting, for example by enabling those who 
need assistance with managing their finances to set up budgeting 
or ‘jam-jar’ accounts. This is an approach which is already being 
implemented in Sheffield; 

• We found several other local authorities who had proactively 
taken steps to contact those households in their area who have 
been affected by the Benefit Cap, to offer support and assistance. 
This proactive approach has been taken already in Sheffield; 

• Some other local authorities, particularly the larger authorities 
have set up welfare reform programme boards to oversee all the 
activity that is taking place within their authority on the welfare 
reform agenda. Sheffield’s equivalent of this is the Welfare 
Reform Implementation Group (WRIG), which has been up and 
running since 2012; 

                                            
1
 Sheffield Citizens Advice is a new city wide Citizens Advice Bureau, formed in October 2013 by a merger of the 
separate advice centres across Sheffield 

Page 31



 

 22

• We found examples of Councils which had set up emergency 
hardship funds for Council tenants, which operate in a similar way 
to the Sheffield Council Housing Service’s Hardship Fund; and 

• Many other local authorities have schemes in place to support 
homeowners who are at risk of losing their homes. In Sheffield 
this work is being taken forward by the Housing Solutions Service, 
as detailed in Section 6, above. 

 
7.2 However, we did find examples of good practice in other local authorities 

which to date has not been trialled in Sheffield. The two authorities 
where we discovered examples of innovative practice in response to 
welfare reform were Bristol City Council and Manchester City Council.  

 
7.3 Bristol City Council  

 In Bristol a joint working arrangement between the local Job Centre Plus 
and the Council has seen two Job Centre Plus employment advisers 
seconded to the Council’s Revenues and Benefits Service. This 
arrangement is in place initially until the end of 2013/14. These members 
of staff are badged as BCC employees and work closely with the 
Revenues and Benefits Service, Landlord Services for council tenants 
and Housing Solutions for private tenants to provide support and 
assistance to households affected by the Benefit Cap. 
 

7.3.1 The advisers - both those seconded from Job Centre Plus and the 
Council’s own internal staff - make contact with affected claimants by 
phone or letter in the first instance to discuss the cap and its implications 
for the household.  If they agree to being helped then a home visit or 
meeting at community location is arranged and an action plan 
completed. 
 

7.3.2 The advisors can offer employment advice and can make referrals for 
skill training/advice if this is required.  They also make referrals for free 
school meals, nursery places and money management advice.  

 
7.3.3 Officers in Bristol have reported good levels of engagement from 

households once initial contact has been made. 
 

7.3.4 Although at present Sheffield does not have any Job Centre Plus 
employees seconded to its Revenues and Benefits Service, Sheffield 
City Council has pursued joint working opportunities with colleagues in 
the Department for Work and Pensions and it should be noted that there 
are currently Job Centre Plus staff seconded to the Building Successful 
Families Programme, as outlined in Section 6, above.   

 
7.3.5 Additionally the Council Housing Service has worked with the DWP’s 

Customer Team to undertake joint visits to tenants affected by Under-
occupancy.  

 

Page 32



 

 23

7.4 Manchester City Council 
Manchester City Council has been involved in setting up ‘Lets Help You’, 
a free service for private landlords and people looking for a home in 
Manchester. It brings landlords and tenants together in a fast and easy 
self-service website. Potential tenants can calculate their likely benefit 
entitlement to see which properties they can afford, and can then choose 
from lists of homes that match their circumstances.  

 
7.4.2 The service is funded by Manchester City Council and the Department of 

Work and Pensions. It encourages people to consider using the private 
rented sector as a way to help meet local demand for smaller homes, 
which cannot be met by social housing alone. The service appears to be 
very user friendly and encourages customers to be savvy about 
understanding their income and what level of rent they can afford. 

 
 

8.0 Conclusions 
 
8.1 Sheffield has made much progress in understanding and responding to 

the impacts of welfare reform, although clearly with such a wide-ranging 
agenda, work will need to continue in order to keep pace with changes. 
The Council is committed to ongoing work to inform its understanding of 
the issues and to support Sheffield residents to cope with the impact of 
welfare reform.  

 
8.2 Future work taking place under the direction of the Council’s Welfare 

Reform Implementation Group will focus not only on preparing for the 
introduction in Sheffield of further individual components of welfare 
reform, such as Universal Credit and Personal Independence Payments, 
but will also consider the longer-term strategic view of the Council in 
relation to welfare reform. 

 

Page 33



 

 24

9.0  Recommendation 
 
9.1 The Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny & Policy Development 

Committee is asked to: 
 

i. note the contents of the report and the progress made on both 
understanding the impact of welfare reform on Sheffield’s 
residents and supporting residents in response to the welfare 
reform agenda;  
 

ii. note the welfare reform case studies which have been compiled 
to provide a deeper understanding of the effects of welfare reform 
on people in the city; 

 
iii. give consideration to the approaches that other local authorities 

have taken in response to welfare reform; 
 

iv. provide views or comments on the Council’s approach on 
responding to the welfare reform agenda; and 

 
v. give consideration to whether the Committee wishes to continue 

to receive further update reports on this issue. 

Page 34



 

 25

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny & Policy 
Development Committee 30 January 2014, The Impact of Welfare Reform 
on Sheffield’s Residents – Update January 2014 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare reform key changes 
 
The following table is provided as a reminder of the key changes to the benefits 
system and their timescales for implementation. 
 

Welfare 
Reform  

Brief Summary of Change Timescale for 
Implementation 

Housing 
Benefit – 
Local 
Housing 
Allowance 

Changes to the rules governing 
assistance with the cost of housing 
for low-income households in the 
private rented sector.  

Implemented in 2011 

Housing 
Benefit – 
Under-
occupation 
(‘Bedroom 
Tax’) 

New rules governing the size of 
properties for which payments are 
made to working age claimants in 
the social rented sector (widely 
known as the ‘bedroom tax’). 

Implemented on 1st 
April 2013 

Non-
dependant 
Deductions 
 

Increases in the deductions from 
Housing Benefit, Council Tax Benefit 
and other income-based benefits to 
reflect the contribution that non-
dependant household members are 
expected to make towards the 
household’s housing costs. 

The first change was 
implemented in April 
2012, and a further 
change was 
implemented in April 
2013. 

 Household      
Benefit Cap 
 

New ceiling on total payments per 
household, applying to the sum of a 
wide range of benefits for working 
age claimants. 

The first stage began 
to be implemented in 
August 2013. The full 
cap will be 
implemented when 
households migrate to 
Universal credit. 

Council Tax 
Benefit 

Reductions in entitlement of working 
age claimants arising from reduction 
in total payments to local authorities. 

Implemented on 1st 
April 2013 

Disability 
Living 
Allowance 
(DLA) 
 

Replacement of DLA by Personal 
Independence Payments (PIP), 
including more stringent and 
frequent medical tests, as the basis 
for financial support to help offset 
the additional costs faced by 
individuals with disabilities.  

All new claims since 
June 2013 are for PIP, 
not DLA.  
In South Yorkshire, 
migration of existing 
DLA claimants to PIP 
will take place from 
October 2015. It is the 
Government’s 
intention that by 
October 2017 all 
existing DLA claimants 

Page 35



 

 26

will have been 
reassessed for PIP. 

Incapacity 
Benefits 
 

Replacement of Incapacity Benefit 
and related benefits by Employment 
and Support Allowance (ESA), with 
more stringent medical tests, greater 
conditionality and time-limiting of 
non-means tested entitlement for all 
but the most severely ill or disabled. 

Migration of existing 
claimants of Incapacity 
Benefit began in 2011 
and migration is due to 
be completed by April 
2014. 

Child Benefit 
 

Three-year freeze, and withdrawal of 
benefit from households including a 
higher earner. 

Benefit frozen for three 
years from April 2011. 
Withdrawal of benefit 
from high earners 
implemented January 
2013. 

Tax Credits 
 

Reductions in payment rates and 
eligibility for Child Tax Credit and 
Working Families Tax Credit, paid to 
lower and middle income 
households. 

Implementation from 
April 2013. 

1 Per Cent 
Up-rating 

Reduction in annual up-rating of 
value of most working-age benefits. 

Implementation from 
April 2013. 

Universal 
Credit 

New benefit  which will affect all 
people of working age who are 
currently receiving any of the 
following:  

• Income Support 

• Income-based JSA 

• income-related ESA 

• Housing benefit  

• Child Tax Credit 

• Housing Benefit 

These benefits will be replaced by 
one single monthly payment which 
will be paid in arrears, to a single 
person in each household. 

Migration to Universal 
Credit (UC) was 
originally due to take 
place over four years 
between October 2013 
and March 2017.  
However we 
understand that the 
earliest that UC will be 
introduced in South 
Yorkshire will be April 
2015, and following 
the Autumn 
Statement, it seems 
likely that we will not 
now see UC in 
Sheffield until 2016. 

 

Page 36



 

 27

Report to Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny & Policy 
Development Committee 30 January 2014, The Impact of Welfare Reform 
on Sheffield’s Residents – Update January 2014 
 
Appendix 2 - Welfare reform case studies 
 
 
 CASE STUDY 1 
 
Graham is single, is aged 57 and is a council tenant. He lives in a 3 bed property which 
has been his home for 33 years. He took over the tenancy on his home from his parents 
who he cared for until they both died. Graham used to work as a specialist steel worker 
but was made redundant. He has rheumatoid arthritis and he tried to claim Employment 
and Support Allowance due to his condition but he failed the work capability 
assessment and he did not appeal. He has stayed on Jobseeker’s Allowance but he 
cannot find work.  
 
Graham’s total income is £71.70 per week Job Seekers Allowance.  From April 2013 
has found it hard to cope due to the costs of paying bedroom tax, council tax and the 
general cost of living.  He used to receive full Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
which meant he could afford to pay for gas, electric and food. A good diet is important to 
his health due to the inflammation in his joints caused by his rheumatoid arthritis. 
 
Since April Graham has had to pay £19.88 per week towards his rent and £3.28 per 
week towards his Council Tax. Before any other expenditure, he has to pay £23.16 of 
his £71.70 weekly income just for housing costs.  This is 32% of his income. Since April 
2013 he has not been able to afford to buy food or clothes. It was a struggle before on a 
subsistence income but he is finding it harder now. He states that during the summer 
months he has been “foraging in the woods for food” such as fruit to eat as he can’t 
afford to buy it. Graham’s cooker is broken and he has no money to replace it. He 
states that he is dreading the winter as he will not be able to afford to heat his property 
and the pain and stiffness in his joints will worsen.  
 
Graham did receive a Discretionary Housing Payment initially but on repeat application 
due to hardship this has been drastically reduced to £5 per week to the end of 
September.  
 
Graham has a bank loan that he can no longer afford to repay since being made 
redundant. He cannot even make a nominal offer of repayment on this due to his 
current predicament and is looking at insolvency.  
 
He is finding it hard to come to terms with having to move to a different property. He has 
lived in his current home for most of his life and cared for both his parents there. If he 
moves he will need a ground floor flat in the same area due to his health condition and 
the fact that he relies on his neighbours for support (he has no family). He feels that a 
ground floor one-bedroomed property will be difficult to find close to his neighbours. He 
has no money for removal costs. Due to changes in the state retirement age, he will not 
be treated as a pensioner until he is 66 and therefore will not be exempt from the 
bedroom tax as a pensioner for another 9 years.   
 
Overall, Graham is finding it much harder to cope than before. He has lost weight and 
now suffers with depression and is fearful of the winter months. He states that if life 
carries on as now his life expectancy will be only a few years more and he will not make 
it to retirement age.  

 Page 37



 

 28

 

CASE STUDY 2 
 
Jean is a 57 year old widow who lives alone in a three-bedroomed housing association 
property. Her granddaughter regularly stays with her for periods of time to provide her 
with company, support and assistance. 
 
Jean has lived in her home for most of her life. Her parents were previously tenants at 
the property and she has brought up her own family there. Jean’s partner served in the 
armed forces for 11 years including two spells in Northern Ireland during the sixties and 
seventies. Jean’s partner died of lung cancer and she nursed him throughout his illness 
until his death in 2011. 
 
Jean is unwell. She suffers from anxiety, depression, asthma and epilepsy. She is 
currently in receipt of Employment and Support Allowance (assessment level) as her 
claim is under appeal. Jean is still suffering the effects of bereavement and has found it 
extremely difficult to deal with her own day to day affairs. 
 
As a consequence of the Bedroom Tax and changes to Council Tax Benefit Jean is 
£29.18 per week worse off, on an income of only £71.70 per week; a reduction of 41% 
in her income, overnight. 
 
Jean has used doorstep lenders to supplement her income. She is unable to pay her 
priorities and feed herself. Her family are having to feed her and help her financially 
day-to-day. She would have no means of coping with any sudden unexpected costs. 
Jean is too proud to use a foodbank. 
 
Jean has rent arrears and has been threatened with eviction. She is having to move to 
a smaller property against her will. This will mean that her granddaughter can no longer 
come and stay with her and she fears that the move will have a negative impact on her 
health. 
 
 

Page 38



 

 29

CASE STUDY 3 
 
Sara was employed until late 2012. She claimed Employment and Support Allowance 
initially, due to health problems and then, since the beginning of May she has been 
claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance.  Sara receives £71 per week contributory JSA. Her 
partner is working as a chef but his hours have been reduced.  He earns £7 per hour 
and works 14 -15 hours per week. He earns between £90 and £100 per week.  They 
live in a 3-bedroomed housing association property.  Their rent is £500 per month. The 
couple’s disposable income is not sufficient for them to eat properly.    
 
Sara’s partner's income is variable, so it is not straightforward for the couple to access 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support payments, although they are receiving help 
from an advice centre to see if the most recent calculations are correct.  
 
Sara’s partner is on a professional cookery course at a local college.  Payments 
towards his course will cost him £1286 this year.  He is investigating opportunities to get 
grants. 
 
At present Sara’s partner's income is not taken into account when her JSA is calculated. 
Sara has been informed that her partner's income will be taken into account when she 
has been claiming JSA for 6 months. At this point her claim will be changed to income-
based JSA. This will result in a big drop in their income, only some of which will be 
offset by increases in Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support.  
 
The main reason that Sara and her partner have so little disposable income is because 
they are subject to Bedroom Tax at 25% and live in a high rent property.  They have 
asked for a move to a one-bedroomed flat but none have become available.   
 
Sara has been advised that if she or her partner got a job working 30 or more hours per 
week, they could apply for Working Tax Credits. However, this seems unlikely as Sara 
has struggled to find work this year and her partner’s hours have just been cut. 
 
The couple have been referred to a food bank for short-term help. 

Page 39



 

 30

 
 
 
CASE STUDY 4 
 
Harry has a physical and a mental health disability. He claims Employment Support 
Allowance and Disability Living Allowance. He is aged 39 and lives in a three-
bedroomed housing association property. He has 3 children, aged 16, 10 and 7. The 
children stay with him each weekend and in the holidays, however the children’s mother 
is the main carer and she receives the child benefit payments. 
 
Since April 2013 Harry has been deemed to be under-occupying his property and he 
now has to make rent payments of £28.50 per week as opposed to £8.53 per week from 
his benefit income of £120 per week. In addition he has an extra £3.28 per week 
Council Tax to pay.  26% of his income now has to be spent on housing costs. This is 
causing him severe hardship. His rent arrears have increased and his landlord has 
issued a notice seeking possession.  He has been awarded a Discretionary Housing 
Payment to alleviate hardship. However, on repeat application it is unclear if he will be 
re-awarded.  
 
Harry feels extremely stressed by the notice seeking possession as he feels if he loses 
his property it will profoundly affect his relationship with his children. In addition, his 
landlord has a policy of not re-housing tenants with rent arrears. Even if he could find a 
one bed property on his estate a) he could not have his 3 children to stay and b) He 
could not bid for it due to his rent arrears.  He feels trapped and unable to move 
forward. He feels under enormous pressure as he does not want to disclose to his 
children the predicament he is in.  
 
In addition to the above, the Harry’s primary benefit (ESA) is stopped because he is too 
ill to attend a medical. He appeals but he is not entitled to any benefit whilst appealing 
this particular decision. He makes a new claim for benefit but he cannot be paid this 
until he attends a new medical. His total income reduces to £20 per week Disability 
Living Allowance.   
 
He is desperate and needs to make an application for a crisis loan. He has no food, gas 
or electricity and his children are due to stay.  He cannot get a crisis loan from the 
Department for Work and Pensions as the local authority now administers these. He is 
told by the DWP to go to his local authority but under the new local assistance scheme, 
he is not entitled to any form of help as he is not in receipt of a means tested benefit.  
 
Harry is now destitute and has to live on food parcels until his primary benefit is sorted 
out.  

 

Page 40



 

 31

 
 
 
 CASE STUDY 5 
 
Dan is a single man living in a Housing Association property. He suffers from 
agoraphobia and is overcoming heroin addiction, on a gradually reducing methadone 
prescription.  
 
Dan was claiming Employment and Support Allowance but he ran into difficulties. He 
relied on his father to take him to all his ESA appointments. In the event of his father 
being unable to do this his brother would take time off work. At time of Dan’s ESA 
medical, his father was on holiday and his brother’s car broke down (evidence of both 
available). 
 
Dan’s ESA was stopped even though a full explanation was given and evidence was 
provided to support his explanation. He made a new claim for ESA but had to endure an 
eight month period when he received no income while awaiting the decision. 
He tried to get a local assistance loan from Sheffield City Council during this period but 
this failed as he did not fit the criteria. 
 
The interruption in his ESA caused knock-on difficulties with his housing benefit. Dan 
experiences extreme nervousness, particularly when engaging in any kind of formal 
contact. His condition and vulnerability make it almost impossible for him to engage 
successfully in person with those in positions of authority. 
 
Dan is also subject to the ‘bedroom tax’ as he has more than one bedroom in his 
property. He has been unable to maintain the shortfall in his housing benefit so this has 
contributed to his rent arrears building. 

 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Interim Director of Housing and Neighbourhoods 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Safer and Sustainable Communities Partnership  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Jo Sykes/Sarah Banks, Head of Safer and Sustainable 

Communities (job share) 
   
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
The report outlines how co-ordinated work undertaken by the Safer and 
Sustainable Communities Partnership is contributing to reducing the number of 
people experiencing crime and anti-social behaviour, and helping to build 
stronger communities.   
__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy √√√√ 
Informing the development of new policy √√√√ 

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report √√√√ 

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
Provide a steer to the work of the Safer and Sustainable Communities 
Partnership, in particular in relation to the priorities for the statutory Partnership 
Plan 2014-17. 
 
 
Background Papers:  
Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment (JSIA) 2013 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  
 
 
 
 

Report to Safer and Sustainable 
Scrutiny Committee 

              30
th
 January 2014 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 43



 2

Report of the Director of Housing and Neighbourhoods –  
Safer and Sustainable Communities Partnership 

 
1. Introduction/Context 

 
1.1 The Council has a legal responsibility under the sections 19 and 20 of 

the Police and Justice Act 2006 to annually scrutinise the Community 
Safety Partnership.  This report provides information as a basis for 
those discussions. 

 
1.2 The report outlines how co-ordinated work undertaken by the Safer and 

Sustainable Communities Partnership is contributing to reducing the 
number of people experiencing crime and anti-social behaviour, and 
helping to build stronger communities.   

 
1.3 It provides a summary of the work of the Safer and Sustainable 

Communities Partnership, including evidence on key issues in relation 
to crime, anti-social behaviour, substance misuse and building stronger 
communities.  

 
1.4 The report outlines headline performance against existing priorities and 

provides details of a selection of key achievements.  It provides 
suggestions for priorities going forward for comment. 

 
 
2. 2013 Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment 
 
2.1 The Council has a statutory requirement to work with partners to 

produce an annual audit of crime and anti-social behaviour, known as 
the Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment (JSIA).  The Partnership 
must then use this evidence to inform the development and delivery of a 
three year strategy which is refreshed annually. 

 
2.2 The JSIA pulls together data and information from various partners. It 

shows levels and patterns of crime, disorder and substance misuse, 
changes in those levels, analysis of why those changes have occurred 
and a review of performance from the previous year.  

 
2.3 The JSIA is an intelligence directed approach to crime and 

disorder/community safety. It assists in understanding community safety 
concerns in the city and indentifying priorities. It is revised on an annual 
basis and refreshed accordingly.  

 
2.4 The 2013 JSIA process has been completed and provided an overview 

of the analysis carried out on a range of data from individual partnership 
agencies.  The proposed priorities as a result of the JSIA to be 
discussed by the Board in February can be found in section 4. 

 
 
 

 

Page 44



 3

 
3. Performance and Achievements 
 
3.1 Below are details from the annual performance report to the Board for 

2012/13. 
 
3.1.1 Priority: reduce anti-social behaviour (ASB), damage and low-level 

offending 
 
Performance: 

• The number of households reporting ASB at least once during the year has 
reduced by 16%, from 12,027 to 10,053.  The target was no increase. The 
number of households reporting 10+ ASB incidents was 192. 

• Criminal damage was down 10%, from 7,877 to 7,051, a reduction of 826 
crimes. This exceeded the target of 5% set by the former South Yorkshire 
Police Authority.  

• There was a significant decrease of 50% in deliberate secondary fires. The 
number fell from 1686 in 11/12 to 844 in 12/13. South Yorkshire Fire and 
Rescue Authority had set a reduction target of 8%. 

 
Funded projects: 

• £40,736 has been spent to support the Community Justice Panels 

• £16,000 has been spent to fund Victim Support ASB outreach worker 

• £300,000 has been spent by the Council on additional Police Community 
Support Officers 

 
Case studies / good practice: 

• Community Justice Panels have exceeded targets with 350 people have 
benefited and been supported by the project. The number of trained 
volunteers has increased from a target of 60 to 110. 

• A Partnership Resource Allocation Meeting (PRAM) has been established 
to co-ordinate a partnership response to the most at risk and vulnerable 
repeat victims of anti-social behaviour 

 
3.1.2 Priority: help create sustainable and cohesive communities 
 
There are no specific performance indictors available around cohesion. 
However, a number of proxy indicators are reported to the communities 
Portfolio and Cohesion Strategy Group, including local trends re ASB and Hate 
Crime: headline indicators re employment and educational attainment: and 
qualitative information around community tensions.  
 
Funded projects: 

• £15,000 has been spent to support the work of the Cohesion Advisory 
group: Asylum Drop In service: Summer of Sanctuary events and the High 
Sheriffs Project. 

 
Case studies / good practice: 

• Further development of the schools tension monitoring system and 
improved links to schools and Community Youth Teams to share local 
intelligence and co-ordinate a partnership response to incidents and 
tensions. 

Page 45



 4

• Managed the transition of the COMPASS contract for Asylum Seeker 
accommodation to G4S and developed and implemented new operational 
arrangements for working with partners in the city. 

• Practical interventions to address cohesion pressures in the East and 
North-East of the city in relation to migrant settlement, place management 
and youth provision. 

• Worker with communities in the Abbeydale corridor to support them to 
identify what makes them feel safe and what they would like to change 
about their area, through the High Sheriffs initiative. 

• Responded to the concerns of local communities following Operation Mach 
to help rebuild trust with partners and the criminal justice system. 

• Serviced partnership structures and advised senior officers and Elected 
Members around cohesion and migration issues. 

• Supported the Voluntary, Community and Faith sector to contribute, at 
strategic and delivery levels, to cohesion and migration agendas eg 
Cohesion Advisory Group, Refugee Forum, Asylum Partnership Group, etc. 

• Mainstreamed the support of individuals vulnerable to extremism with 
Safeguarding procedures.   

 
 
3.1.3 Priority: reduce violent crime by tackling substance misuse 
 
Performance: 

• The percentage of adults who successfully finished treatment drug free and 
did not re- present within 6 months is 11.3%.  This is 296 out of 2608.This is 
a slightly amended outcome measure as part of the Public Health Outcome 
Framework. 

• Violence against the person crimes fell steadily over the year, ending the 
year 9% lower than the year before, which equates to 476 fewer victims of 
violence.  The target was to reduce or maintain the level of the previous 
year, so this has been achieved. 

 
Funded projects: 

• £56,000 has been spent to support additional alcohol treatment places and 
staff training sessions. 

 
Good practice: 

• The project provides treatment places for Tier 2, 3 & 4 through services 
providers which are Sheffield Health & Social Care and Turning Point for 
Alcohol Treatment places. Getting people into treatment therefore reducing 
harm from alcohol related injuries and admissions to hospital. The project 
has supported 240 people and had 180 brief interventions. 

 
3.1.4 Priority: protecting the most vulnerable 
 
Performance: 

• The number of domestic violence incidents with a repeat victim rose by 
6.4% on baseline. The highest % increase is on 10x’s repeat calls. 

• Hate Crime reporting rose by 27% increasing from 157 to 200. Levels are 
now back in line with the previous 3 years. This increase shows and 
increased confidence to report linked to work currently being undertaken.  

 

Page 46



 5

• South Yorkshire Police set a target for half of all hate crimes to result in a 
“sanction detection”, that is, lead to a charge, caution or restorative justice 
outcome.  The actual rate was 49% leading to one of these outcomes. The 
large increase in reporting has towards the end of the year means that 
detections have not caught up.   

 
Funded projects: 

• £427,000 has been spent in support of IDVAS & Helpline to support victims 
of Domestic Violence. 

 
Case study / good practice: 

• The helpline service supports victims of domestic and sexual abuse. It has 
helped professionals/ organisations and the general public gain information 
in relation to these issues. The Helpline has given clearer pathways to 
safety / support and advice to a wide spectrum of people. The data shows 
that there has been a substantial increase in calls received during each 
quarter which has resulted in targets being exceeded. 

  
3.1.5 Priority: Priority Crime 
  
Performance: 

• Domestic Burglary rose from 3,754 to 4,192 which is a 12% increase. The 
largest increase was in the period between October 12 and January 13 with 
numbers now decreasing. 

 
Funded projects: 

• £102,075 Spent on addressing domestic burglary. 

• £4,972 has been spent on ZEST, Communities Against Crime 
 
Case study/ Good practice: 

• ZEST – This project has targeted areas of the city where young people are 
experiencing the effects of gang crime, knife crime and substance misuse. 
Zest provided an enjoyable environment for those young people to express 
themselves and aspire to make changes in their life. A wide range of 
activities delivered by qualified youth workers to raise aspirations and 
improve attitudes. The project engaged 178 young people. This has 
reduced the number of ASB incidents by 48% over 12 months. 

 
 
4. Partnership Plan 2014-17 
 
4.1  Proposed priorities identified through the 2013 Joint Strategic 

Intelligence Assessment: 
 

• Supporting victims of crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Domestic burglary 

• Domestic abuse 

• Anti-Social behaviour 

• Child sexual exploitation 

• Community Cohesion 

• Reducing offending / re-offending  
 

Further information can be found in Table 1. 

Page 47



 6

 
Table 1:  Priorities from JSIA 2013 

Issue Reason  Background 

1.  Supporting 
victims of 
crime and 
ASB 

Improving 
communities’ 
trust in 
policing  

Identify and support victims of crime and anti-
social behaviour, in particular those individuals 
and families who are most challenging or 
vulnerable, through targeted partnership 
support measures including target hardening 
and increased police visibility in our 
communities. 

2.  Domestic 
burglary  

Ranked 1 in 
analysis of 
performance 
and harm 

Theft offences still represent the biggest 
performance challenge for the partnership, with 
increases seen in robberies, theft from person, 
mobile phone theft, metal theft, domestic 
burglary and theft from vehicles.  Although 
levels of burglary are now going down this still 
remains an issue for the city. 

3.  Domestic 
abuse 

Ranked 2 in 
in analysis of 
performance 
and harm 

There has been a notable increase in the 
number of domestic abuse incidents reported 
to the police over the latest five year period; 
the impact on support services is likely to 
continue to increase given that more unique 
individuals are likely to report.  

The Home Secretary, has launched a major 
review of the way police investigate domestic 
violence.  Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary will carry out a wide-ranging 
inquiry into the way police forces respond to 
allegations of domestic violence, focusing on 
whether the police do enough to protect 
victims who say they are in danger.  

4.  Anti-social 
behaviour 

Ranked 3 in 
analysis of 
performance 
and harm 

Although levels of anti-social behaviour have 
reduced in Sheffield, some types remain of 
concern, i.e. arson and environmental crime.   

Cases reported in national media have 
highlighted the importance of working together 
to address anti-social behaviour directed at the 
most vulnerable in society. 

5.  Child 
Sexual 
Exploitation 

At risk and 
vulnerable 
victims 

It is likely that this issue will remain a key focus 
for the city going forward, with continuing 
media coverage of SYPs handling of CSE 
cases.   

Three major reviews into how agencies in 
South Yorkshire manage CSE offences past 
and present have been commissioned by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 

6.  Community 
cohesion 

An important 
issue for the 
public 

Sheffield has experienced an influx of 
economic migrants in relation to freedom of 
movement regulations within the European 
Union.  These groups have concentrated in a 

Page 48



 7

small number of neighbourhoods, putting a 
strain on inter-community relations, linked to 
density of population, different ways of living, 
and perceived competition for local resources 
These issues are associated with increased 
reporting of ASB and crime, and can increase 
the pull on public service provision. 

7.  Reducing 
offending / 
re-
offending 

Tackle 
offending 
behaviour 

Fundamental changes to the adult offending 
system means that the partnership will need to 
engage with new providers to continue to 
tackle offending effectively. 

Work on prevention of youth offending is vital 
to diverting people from criminality, this is an 
issue with potential for media interest and 
there are financial constraints, i.e. the 
conclusion of national funding for the ‘Ending 
Gang and Youth Violence’ program 

8.  Substance 
Misuse 

Change in 
trends 

The drug using population is changing. There 
is a shift from problematic opiate use to 
problematic non-opiate use.  

The increase in the use of new psychoactive 
substances is challenging in that service 
providers need to keep on top of the new 
emerging substances. 

9.  Future 
challenges 
needing a 
partnership 
response 

Awareness 
of rapidly 
changing 
social and 
political 
climates 

There are a number of challenges, both local 
and national, identified in the scanning section 
of the document which have the potential to 
impact on the work of the partnership.  These 
include: 

• Reducing budgets and funding, against a 
background of increasing pressure from 
central government on all partners to 
sustain and improve performance. 

• General election in 2015 and possible 
national political change. 

• Possibility of extreme Right and Left Wing 
protests, and Environmental Campaigns 

• Tour de France visiting Sheffield in 2014 
(disruption, media coverage, etc) 

 
 
4.2 The findings of the JSIA will inform the next Partnership Plan for 2014-

17.  The plan will describe how the Partnership will address these 
priorities over the next three years and include a set of indicators to 
measure the impact.  

 
5. What does this mean for the people of Sheffield? 

5.1 Crime and anti-social behaviour can have an impact on both individual 
victims and communities.   Victims can suffer physical, emotional and 
financial costs, and there is also a wider quality of life impact for others.  

Page 49



 8

There are other issues which are important in building strong 
communities:  preventing violent extremism, cohesion and volunteering 
are all fundamental areas of work.  Delivery through partnership working 
is essential to impact on the safer and sustainable priorities.  Tackling all 
these priorities can improve the quality of life for the people of Sheffield.   

 
6. Recommendation 
  
6.1 The Scrutiny Committee is asked to support the direction of the 

Partnership, and provide a steer to its work, in particular in relation to the 
priorities for the statutory partnership plan 2014-17. 

 

Page 50



 

 1

 
 

 
Subject: Work Programme 2013/14 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Matthew Borland 

Policy and Improvement Officer   
matthew.borland@sheffield.gov.uk 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
This report provides the Committee with the Work Programme for the municipal 
year 2013/14.  
 
The work programme is based on the Committee’s previous discussions. 
__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other X 

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 
1) Comment on the Work Programme 

 
2) Approve the Work Programme 

___________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  None  
 
Category of Report: Open 
 

Report to Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny & Policy 

Development Committee 
Insert date  

Agenda Item 10

Page 51



 

 2

Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 2013/14 

 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Committee is asked to: 
 
1) Comment on the Work Programme 

 
2) Approve the Work Programme 

Safer & Stronger Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 
Meeting 
Date 

Agenda Item/s Detail 

27th 
March 
2014 

Tenant Participation: 
  

Implementation of 
Allocations Policy 

Update on progress 

Relationships between 
external contractors and 
housing.  

To include tenant influence; clarity of 
specification; more effective and transparent 
monitoring 

Kier Contract   

Review of HRA Business 
Plan 

  

Challenge for Change: 
Grass Cutting 

Cabinet member to return following discussion at 
July 13 meeting. 

BRIEFING: Welfare Reform   

BRIEFING: Right to Buy 
Update 

  

Page 52



 

 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Janet Sharpe (Interim Director of Council Housing)  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Review of the Partner Resource Allocation Meeting 

(PRAM) 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Simon Mitchell, Safer Neighbourhood Manager, 273 

5971   
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
Following a presentation on 26th September 2013, the Committee requested a 
quarterly progress report regarding Partner Resource Allocation Meeting 
(PRAM), with a particular focus on: 
 

• Improving the relationship between PRAM and the Neighbourhood 
Action Groups; and 

• The development of a citywide PRAM. 

This is the first of the quarterly reports. 

_______________________________________________________________ 

Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee X 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
The Committee is asked to note progress and provide views, comments and 
recommendations.  
___________________________________________________ 
 
 

Report to Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny & Policy 

Development Committee 
Insert date  

Agenda Item 11

Page 53



 

 2

Background Papers:  
Previous Scrutiny Committee minutes 
  
Category of Report: OPEN  

Page 54



 

 3

Quarterly Report of the Interim Head of Council Housing  
Review of the Partner Resource Allocation Meeting  
 
1. Introduction/Context 
 
1.1 In August 2012, the Partner Resource Allocation Meeting (PRAM) was 

introduced to the East of the city in order to: 
 

• Improve the way in which we identify and support vulnerable people 
experiencing ASB; 

• Provide leadership and accountability; and  

• Better link ASB resources with Health and Social Care colleagues. 
 
1.2 Following a presentation on 26th September 2013, the Committee 

requested a quarterly progress report regarding Partner Resource 
Allocation Meeting (PRAM), with a particular focus on: 

• Improving the relationship between PRAM and the Neighbourhood 
Action Groups; and 

• The development of a citywide PRAM.  
  
 
2. Improving the relationship between PRAM and the NAGs  

2.1 It is important that the NAGs are not viewed as the first port of call for 
ASB cases where a multi-agency response is required. With this in mind, 
officers are being encouraged to utilise the NAGs for more challenging 
cases, providing greater focus on vulnerable people experiencing ASB; 
improving the level of support; and speeding up resolution.  

2.2 The primary focus of the NAGs has moved towards support for 
vulnerable people experiencing ASB. There is still work to do on this, but 
the message here is that the ‘management’ of those committing ASB is 
best dealt with by specialist agencies and pre-existing structures. 

2.3 The PRAM continues to offer an important touchstone for officers 
involved in ‘by-exception’ cases, ensuring that the primary focus remains 
on people experiencing ASB and strengthening the link with colleagues 
in Health and Social Care. 

2.4 There are some geographical gaps in NAG coverage. Over the next 
quarter, the Safer Neighbourhood Manager will progress work to ensure 
that each area of the city has recourse to a NAG and that details are 
circulated to officers and Elected Members. 

  

3. The development of a citywide PRAM 

3.1 Discussions are currently taking place with partners to expand the 
analytical support provided to PRAM so that it can go citywide. Whilst 
there is no date for this expansion, partners are supportive and it is just a 
case of identifying the necessary capacity to support this move. 

3.2 The Safer Neighbourhood Manager will continue to push this through 
and hopes to have positive closure in the next quarter. 

 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Update Report – Council House Sales under the Right to Buy Scheme  

History 

The Right to Buy Scheme was introduced in 1980 as a means for tenants of Local Authorities to 

purchase their properties.  It offered generous discounts for tenants to buy their properties.  It has 

proved a popular scheme with over 30,000 properties in Sheffield being sold. 

Originally the scheme required tenants to have had a secure tenancy for two years to enable them 

to buy their property. The more years a tenant had the greater the discount they received, there 

were also greater discount for tenants purchasing leasehold properties.   

For tenants purchasing freehold properties providing they qualified for the scheme they initially 

received a 30% discount and then gained an additional 1% for every year of tenancy they accrued. 

For leasehold properties the tenant started at 40% and gained 2% for every year.   

The maximum percentage discount a tenant could receive was 60% for freehold (30 years 

tenancy) and 70% for leasehold (15 years tenancy), these maximum discounts remain in place 

today although there are planned changes to raise the freehold level to 70% (this is covered in 

future of the Right to Buy in this report) 

Due to the popularity of the Right to Buy a maximum cash discount was introduced in 1999 which 

limited the discount to £24,000 despite how many years tenancy they had accrued.  This remained 

in place until 2012 when the discount limit was raised to £75,000. 

The biggest changes came to the Right to Buy scheme in the Housing Act 2004, this changed the 

qualification period from two to five years tenancy. It also amended the discount repayment period 

from three to five years. (i.e where a tenant sell their property within the first five years a 

percentage of the discount they originally received when they purchased the property would have 

to be repaid back to the Council). 

It also inserted a clause into the conveyance / lease where the property has to be offered back to 

the Council if it is sold within the first ten years after the sale.  This was seen as a means for local 

authorities to lessen the impact of reducing stock levels, however in reality to date the Council has 

not had funds to buy any back. 

 

Housing Market  

In 2007 the general collapse in the housing market also had a dramatic effect on Right to Buy 

sales.  In 2005 /06 Sheffield sold 950 properties in 2007 /08 this had reduced to 376 and the 

further decline in sales continued year on year to a low of 76 sales in 2009/10. 

The subsequent years have seen modest increases in sales until 2012 /13 where the increased 

discount limit saw a total of 149 sales.  The upward trend has continued for 2013/14 with sales to 

date of 181 (as at end of quarter 3) with forecasted sales for the year predicted to be 243.  

 

 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 57



The table below shows the trend for RTB sales and applications over the past 10 years. 

Year 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 

                        

Apps 3508 3109 2968 1927 1866 904 371 275 339 339 561 

Sales 1520 2252 1375 950 578 376 106 76 88 104 149 

 

 

Future for the Right to Buy  

The coalition Government still see the Right to Buy Scheme as an important tool to increase home 

ownership and also with the retained receipts from sales as a means for local authorities to start 

building new social housing.   

The Government is keen to increase Right to Buy sales to fund this new build programme and is 

actively promoting the Right to Buy.  A national advertising mail out has been planned by DCLG 

this will incorporate Sheffield postcodes where there are known Council properties.  DCLG are 

also doing a targeted mail out to 55-65 year old who live within those postcodes as they see this 

group of people as the most likely to purchase their property. 

 

To further boost Right to Buy sales there are also planned changes to the qualification criteria and 

the discount caps.  In a press release at the beginning of January DCLG have confirmed they are 

going to increase maximum % discount from 60% to 70% for freehold properties, this will bring it in 

line with the maximum discount for leasehold homes. They will also introduce an annual uplift to 

the maximum cash discount (currently £75,000). This will be increased each year in line with the 

Consumer Price Index rate of inflation and as such it serves to ensure that discounts remain 

constant in real terms. DCLG are aiming to have these changes in place by May 2014 and any 

application that may be affected will automatically have their selling price amended. 

There are also proposals to reduce the qualifying criteria for tenants to buy. Currently applicants 

need to have been tenants for five year before having the right to buy, this is set to be reduced to 

three years to allow more tenants to access the scheme. This change is likely to be introduced 

later in the year. 

 

Future Sales Predictions 

Whilst there has been a gradual recovery in the general housing market it is difficult to predict the 

effect it will have on Right to Buy sales.  Historically mortgage providers were happy to lend on the 

basis that the discount a tenant received could be used as the deposit.  Following the downturn in 

the housing market mortgage providers were less willing to lend on this basis and generally saw 

Right to Buy as a higher risk and restricted their lending to this market. 

Steady rises in Right to Buy sales are predicted for the next few years. 

2013 / 14 – 243 

2014 / 15 – 265 

Page 58



2015 / 16 – 290 

 It is possible however that numbers could be higher if the housing market in this region becomes 

particularly buoyant and/or there are further changes to the scheme in the future. 

 

Capital Receipt  

The introduction of the higher maximum discount of £75,000 in April 2012 has meant that 

properties are being sold for less and therefore the capital receipt per sale has reduced.  However 

because the number of sales is increasing the level of receipt overall is increasing and will assist 

the delivery of new affordable homes in the city.  

The table below shows the total sales, total capital receipt (millions), average property price and 

average property discount for the past 10 years. 

 

 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 

Year                       

Sales 1520 2252 1375 950 578 376 106 76 88 104 149 

Capital 

Receipt  

£ Millions 25.2 46.6 37.9 35.8 25.6 18.7 5.3 4.4 4.2 4.5 5.6 

Average 

Sale price      

£ 16567 20703 27542 37731 44257 49604 50276 58212 47793 43080 37704 

Average 

Discount  

£ 14770 17623 19558 22553 23086 23634 21762 23650 23622 23415 37874 

 

 

The projected capital receipt from the right to buy sales for the next 3 years is 

2013 / 14 - £9.4m – based on 243 sales at an average selling price of £38,033 

2014 / 15 - £10.6m – based on 265 sales at an average selling price of £39,950 

2015 / 16 - £12.2m based on 290 sales at an average selling price of £41,950 

 

Not all of the receipts from RTB sales can be retained by the Council to reinvest. Prior to April 

2012 the Council could only retain 25% of the receipt (subject to offsetting certain costs). The 

remaining 75% however had to be sent to the Government for pooling. By this time DCLG had 

also obtained/ commissioned from PWC long term RTB sales projections and factored these into 

the self-financing debt settlement. 

In 2012 when the Government introduced changes to the maximum discount levels to reinvigorate 

the RTB scheme they also gave Local Authorities the option to keep 100% of the receipts gained 

from any additional sales (over and above the levels forecast in the self-financing settlement) This 

Page 59



was on the proviso they agreed to reinvest the additional  capital receipt into the delivery of new 

affordable homes . If Councils took up this option (as Sheffield has done) they can use these 

additional receipts to part fund new homes.  Significantly however, only 30% of the cost of a new 

home can come from RTB receipts. The remaining 70% has to be funded by another source.     

Further reports will be brought to this committee to provide an update on the oncoming changes to 

the RTB scheme, changes to RTB activity moving forward and the resultant impact on capital 

receipts/ funds available to invest in new homes. 

 

 

 

 

Page 60


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 The Impact of Welfare Reform on Sheffield's Residents - Update January 2014
	9 Safer and Sustainable Communities Partnership
	10 Work Programme 2013/14
	11 Review of the Partner Resource Allocation Meeting (PRAM)
	12 Council House Sales Under the Right to Buy Scheme

